
Meeting of:  Planning and Licensing Committee
Date: Monday, 3rd July, 2017
Time: 6.15 pm.
Venue: Hollingworth - (Room 108B), Training and 

Conference Suite, First Floor, Number One 
Riverside, Smith Street, Rochdale, OL16 1XU

Members of the public are able to speak on planning applications for 
determination by the Committee.  To register to speak on an application please 
complete the required form which is available from Governance & Committee 
Services

Item 
No.

AGENDA Page 
No

1.  APOLOGIES 

To receive any apologies for absence. 

2.  MINUTES 3 - 12

To approve as a correct record, the minutes of the last meeting of 28th 

March and 10th April 2017. 

3.  DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST 

Members are required to declare any disclosable pecuniary, personal 
or personal and prejudicial interests they may have and the nature of 
those interests relating to items on this agenda and/or indicate if S106 
of the Local Government Finance Act 1992 applies to them.    

4.  URGENT ITEMS OF BUSINESS 

To determine whether there are any additional items of business 
which, by reason of special circumstances, the Chair decides should 
be considered at the meeting as a matter of urgency. 

5.  ITEMS FOR EXCLUSION OF PUBLIC AND PRESS 

To determine any items on the agenda, if any, where the public are to 
be excluded from the meeting. 

6.  SUBMITTED PLANNING APPLICATIONS 

To consider the following submitted Planning Applications -  

Public Document Pack

mailto:Committee.Services@rochdale.gov.uk
mailto:Committee.Services@rochdale.gov.uk


6(a) 16/01342/FUL - HANSON POINT, HANSON CLOSE INDUSTRIAL 
ESTATE, MIDDLETON 

13 - 28

Change of use to B1(a) (Office), B2 (General Industrial) and B8 
(Storage or Distribution). Alterations to front elevation to accommodate 
for 2 full height shutters, 1 full height shutter with pit-mounted dock 
leveller and formation of recessed ramp to frontage of loading doors. 
Provision of external cardboard compactor and gas tank in yard area. 
Use of part of yard area for external storage. 

6(b) 16/00202/S106 - FORMER ALEXANDER DREW SITE, MELLOR 
STREET, ROCHDALE 

29 - 35

Application to modify the terms of the planning obligations contained 
within the Section 106 Agreement pursuant to planning permission 
08/D51596 

7.  PLANNING APPEALS 36 - 42

 To inform on planning appeals recently submitted and determined.

Members are invited to attend site visits as follows: -

3:30pm Meet staff entrance Number One Riverside;
4:00 Hanson Point, Hanson Close Industrial Estate, Middleton;
4:50 Alexander Drew site, Mellor Street, Rochdale.

Planning and Licensing Committee Members
Councillor Surinder Biant Councillor Allen Brett
Councillor Phil Burke Councillor Neil Butterworth
Councillor Irene Davidson Councillor Susan Emmott
Councillor Aftab Hussain Councillor Shaun O'Neill
Councillor Aasim Rashid Councillor Peter Rush
Councillor Ann Stott JP Councillor Patricia Sullivan
Councillor Carol Wardle Councillor June West
Councillor Donna Williams

For more information about this meeting, please contact 
Michael Garraway
Governance and Committee Services Officer
01706 924716
michael.garraway@rochdale.gov.uk



PLANNING AND LICENSING COMMITTEE

MINUTES OF MEETING
Tuesday, 28 March 2017

PRESENT:  Councillor Carol Wardle (Chair); Councillors Clegg, 
Susan Emmott, Surinder Biant, Brett, Rush, Sheerin, Stott, Sullivan, West, 
Hussain, Robinson and Burke.

OFFICERS: J Holmes, M Garraway and S Shahid (Resources Directorate), D 
Ripa (Economy Directorate). 

ALSO IN ATTENDANCE:  Councillors Duckworth, Holly, Howard, Paolucci-
Escobar, Winkler and approximately 33 members of the public. 

APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE: Councillor Butterworth and Councillor O'Neill.

DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST
56 There were no declarations of interest. 

MINUTES
57 Decision: The minutes of the meeting of the Planning & Licensing Committee 
held on 6th February 2017 be approved as a correct record and signed accordingly, 
subject to the following amendment:  Councillor West was present at the meeting. 

VARIATION OF ORDER OF BUSINESS
58 In accordance with Council Procedure Rule 2.2, the Chair indicated that the 
submitted applications would be considered in the following order, after the 
declaration of interests and prior to all the other business contained on the meeting’s 
agenda:

1) 17/00196/FUL - Proposed installation of roller shutters to shop front 
(Resubmission 15/01101/FUL) at 418 Halifax Road Wardle. 

2) 16/00478/FUL - Erection of new dwellinghouse on land at Bamford Old Hall,  off 
Bury And Rochdale Old Road, Heywood. 

3) 16/01556/REM - Submission of reserved matters following outline approval 
15/01183/OUT relating to appearance, landscaping, layout and scale for the erection 
of 103 no. dwellings on land at Hollin Lane, Middleton

4) 16/01430/REM - Submission of reserved matters pursuant to outline permission 
15/01195/OUT (relating to appearance, landscaping, layout and scale) for the 
erection of 117 no. dwellings on land off Langley Lane, Middleton

17/00196/FUL - PROPOSED INSTALLATION OF ROLLER SHUTTERS TO 
SHOP FRONT (RESUBMISSION 15/01101/FUL) AT 418 HALIFAX ROAD 
WARDLE
59 The Director of Economy introduced planning application 17/00196/FUL 
which was for the proposed installation of roller shutters to shop front (Resubmission 
15/01101/FUL) at 418 Halifax Road Wardle.

Page 3

Agenda Item 2



In introducing the report the Director of Economy referred to the site visit undertaken 
by Members of the Committee.  

There were no objectors in attendance at the meeting. 
 
The Committee considered the views of Ward Councillor, Paolucci-Escobar who 
addressed the Committee on behalf of the applicant. 

In considering the application Members sought clarification as to the materials and 
colour of the proposed shutters. 

Decision:  Planning permission be granted subject to conditions as detailed within the 
submitted report with additional conditions relating to the materials and colouring of 
the shutters to be delegated to the Chief Planning Officer.

Reason for the decision: The Committee considered the economic considerations 
outlined by the applicant and determined that these, in addition to the presence of 
similar forms of development in the area, justified the grant of planning permission in 
this case.  

16/00478/FUL - ERECTION OF NEW DWELLINGHOUSE ON LAND AT 
BAMFORD OLD HALL, OFF BURY AND ROCHDALE OLD ROAD, 
HEYWOOD
60 The Director of Economy introduced planning application 16/00478/FUL – for 
the erection of new dwelling house on the land at Bamford Old Hall, off Bury and 
Rochdale Old Road, Heywood. 

In introducing the report the Director of Economy referred to a site visit undertaken by 
Members of the Committee.  Members were provided with an update and further 
clarification regarding:  6 additional letters of objection and 10 additional letters of 
support that had been received since the publication of the report.  The Planning 
Officer advised that each of the points raised within the additional representations 
had been covered within the submitted report.

The Committee considered the views of Mr Crasswell, who addressed the Committee 
on behalf of the objectors.  
 
The Committee considered the views of the applicant, Mr Clark and his 
representative, Mr P Clarke who addressed the Committee in relation to the 
application.

The Committee considered the views of Councillors Duckworth, Holly and Winkler 
who addressed the Committee detailing objections to the application.

Decision:  That Planning Permission be refused. 

Reason for the decision: The site is located within the Green Belt wherein there is a 
presumption against inappropriate development except in very special 
circumstances. The development would comprise the erection of a new dwelling in 
the Green Belt, which would not fall within one of the exceptions to inappropriate 
development identified in Paragraph 89 of the National Planning Policy Framework. 
The proposed dwelling would therefore constitute inappropriate development in the 
Green Belt, which is, by definition, harmful to the Green Belt by reason of its 
inappropriateness. It would also cause harm to the openness of the Green Belt and 

Page 4



non-designated heritage assets. It is not considered that very special circumstances 
exist or have been demonstrated to outweigh the identified harm that would be 
caused to the Green Belt and non-designated heritage assets. The proposal is 
therefore contrary to saved policy G/D/2 of the Rochdale Unitary Development Plan, 
policies G4 and P2 of the Adopted Rochdale Core Strategy and the National 
Planning Policy Framework.

16/01556/REM - SUBMISSION OF RESERVED MATTERS FOLLOWING 
OUTLINE APPROVAL 15/01183/OUT RELATING TO APPEARANCE, 
LANDSCAPING, LAYOUT AND SCALE FOR THE ERECTION OF 103 NO. 
DWELLINGS ON LAND AT HOLLIN LANE, MIDDLETON
61 The Director of Economy introduced planning application 16/01556/REM – for 
the submission of reserved matters following outline approval 15/01183/OUT relating 
to appearance, landscaping, layout and scale for the erection of 103 no. dwellings on 
land at Hollin Lane, Middleton.

In introducing the report the Director of Economy referred to the site visit undertaken 
by Members of the Committee.  Members were advised that a plan of the proposed 
electricity substation had been received and was considered that this would not result 
in an unacceptable detrimental impact on the character and appearance of the 
development or that of the surrounding area and would accord with Core Strategy 
policy P3 in terms of its design and
layout; in relation to the proposed boundary treatments/Noise that the boundary 
treatments at various plots along the site have been reduced to 2.2m; in relation to 
the proposed 2.5 storey units an additional condition was recommended requiring a 
scheme for the substitution of house types for the 2.5 storey plots. Following 
concerns raised relating to future alterations to properties by way of dormer 
extensions resulting in a significant change to the overall design and appearance of 
the scheme, it had been confirmed that the loft space within the two storey dwellings 
would not lend itself to conversion and therefore a condition was recommended to 
remove permitted development rights in relation to dormer extensions, the condition 
would also remove permitted development rights in relation to side extensions 
meaning that any proposed side extensions or dormers would require further 
planning permission.  Members were further advised that an updated plan had been 
received providing details that all roads would be 5.5m in width with footpaths of 
1.8m.  Members were provided details of an update to the public open space 
provision proposed on the site.   

The Committee considered the views of Mr Shackle, who addressed the Committee 
on behalf of the objectors.  
 
The Committee considered the views of the applicant’s representative, Mr G 
Wyleman from Taylor Wimpey UK Ltd who addressed the Committee in relation to 
the application.

Decision:  Planning permission be granted subject to conditions as detailed within the 
submitted report incorporating amendments to conditions 1 (plans) and 8 (noise), 
along with additional conditions in relation to permitted development and the 2.5 
storey units, as detailed above and within the submitted update report. 

Reason for the decision: The principal of residential development on this site has 
been established through the grant of outline planning permission (ref: 
15/01183/OUT). The reserved matters related to appearance, landscaping, layout 

Page 5



and scale, which were considered appropriate to the character of the surrounding 
area.

16/01430/REM - SUBMISSION OF RESERVED MATTERS PURSUANT TO 
OUTLINE PERMISSION 15/01195/OUT (RELATING TO APPEARANCE, 
LANDSCAPING, LAYOUT AND SCALE) FOR THE ERECTION OF 117 NO. 
DWELLINGS ON LAND OFF LANGLEY LANE, MIDDLETON
62 The Director of Economy introduced planning application 16/01430/REM for 
the submission of reserved matters pursuant to outline permission 15/01195/OUT 
(relating to appearance, landscaping, layout and scale) for the erection of 117 no. 
dwellings on land off Langley Lane, Middleton. 

In introducing the report the Director of Economy referred to a site visit undertaken by 
Members of the Committee.  Members were advised that following publication of the 
submitted report a plan had been submitted providing details of the proposed 
pumping station which was not considered to have an unacceptable detrimental 
impact on the character and appearance of the development or that of the 
surrounding area and would accord with Core Strategy policy P3 in terms of its 
design and layout.  In relation to the boundary treatments Members were advised 
that the line of the boundary walls at plot 117, 65 and 4 have been set back so that 
they no longer project beyond the elevation of the host dwelling. In addition the 2.6m 
high boundary wall at plot 117 has been reduced to 2.2m and plot 4 had been set 
further back to improve visibility and the street scene.  In relation to the proposed 2.5 
storey units on the Langley Lane frontage and the dwellings fronting the access road 
to the eastern side of the site were considered unacceptable and as such a condition 
is recommended requiring a scheme for the substitution of house types for the 2.5 
storey plots where they sit within a street scene of 2 storey dwellings.  Furthermore it 
was considered that future alterations to properties by way of dormer extensions 
would result in a significant change to the overall design and appearance of the 
scheme so it was recommended that a condition be included to remove permitted 
development rights in relation to dormer extensions, the condition would mean that 
any proposed side extensions or dormers would require a further grant of planning 
permission.  Members were further advised that an updated plan had been received 
providing details that all roads would be 5.5m in width with footpaths of 1.8m.  
Members were provided details of an update to the public open space provision 
proposed on the site.     

The Committee considered the views of Mr Shackle, who addressed the Committee 
on behalf of the objectors.  

The Committee considered the views of the applicant’s representative, Mr G 
Wyleman from Taylor Wimpey, UK, Ltd who addressed the Committee in relation to 
the application.

Decision:  Planning permission be granted subject to conditions as detailed within the 
submitted report incorporating amendments to conditions 1 (plans) and 8 (noise), 
along with additional conditions in relation to permitted development and the 2.5 
storey units, as detailed above and within the submitted update report. 

Reason for the decision: The principal of residential development on this site has 
been established through the grant of outline planning permission (ref: 
15/01195/OUT). The reserved matters related to appearance, landscaping, layout 
and scale, which were considered appropriate to the character of the surrounding 
area.

Page 6



PLANNING APPEALS DECISIONS
63 Decision:  That the planning appeals decisions be noted.

PLANNING APPEALS LODGED
64 Decision:  That the planning appeals lodged be noted.

Page 7



PLANNING AND LICENSING COMMITTEE

MINUTES OF MEETING
Monday, 10th April 2017

PRESENT:  Councillor Carol Wardle (Chair); Councillors Surinder Biant, Brett, 
Butterworth, Clegg, Susan Emmott, O'Neill, Robinson, Rush, Sheerin, Stott 
and Sullivan

OFFICERS:  M. Robinson (Assistant Director – Planning & Development), J. 
Holmes and M. Garraway (Resources Directorate), S. Reay (Neighbourhoods 
Directorate). 

ALSO IN ATTENDANCE:  Councillors Farnell and Zaheer; J. Searle (Director 
of Economy), G. Davies (Rochdale Development Agency), 10 members of 
public.

APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE: Councillor Burke, Councillor Hussain and 
Councillor West

DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST
65 There were no declarations of interest.

16/01383/HYBR - HYBRID APPLICATION COMPRISING 
COMPREHENSIVE PHASED REGENERATION OF ROCHDALE TOWN 
CENTRE EAST
66 The Director of Economy introduced planning application 
16/01383/HYBR, a Hybrid application comprising a comprehensive phased 
regeneration of Rochdale Town Centre East. A Detailed application for Phase 
One for erection of four commercial buildings and decked car park to provide 
retail, food and drink uses (Use Classes A1, A3 and A4, maximum 22,511 
sq.m), cinema (Use Class D2, maximum 1,797 sq.m), gym (Use Class D2, 
maximum 2,018 sq.m) together with new service road and junction at John 
Street, ancillary uses, servicing and common areas, landscaping and 
infrastructure; and for B); and, an Outline application (all matters reserved) for 
Phase Two for erection of four buildings to provide retail, food and drink (Use 
Classes A1, A3, A4 and A5 maximum 1,000 sq.m), offices / commercial (Use 
Classes A2 and B1, maximum 4,000 sq.m), residential uses (Use Class C3, 
maximum 100 dwellings), hotel use (Use Class C1, maximum 120 bedrooms), 
and leisure (Use Class D1, maximum 500 sq.m) together with associated car 
parking, ancillary uses, landscaping and infrastructure. The proposed 
development was to be called Rochdale Riverside, sited on land bound by 
Smith Street to the South, John Street to the East, the rear of Yorkshire Street 
to the North, Penn Street and Baillie Street to the Northwest and Constantine 
Road to the West; in Rochdale Town Centre.

The Director of Economy referred to a site visit undertaken by Members of the 
Committee earlier in the day.  The Director of Economy provided an update 
detailing amendments to the submitted report.  The Committee were advised 
that the Council, due to its positions as both land owner of the development 

Page 8



site and local planning authority, cannot proceed on the basis of a section 106 
Agreement which would be unlawful and unenforceable. The Committee were 
advised that, in this particular instance, the entering into of an agreement 
under section 111 of the Local Government Act 1972 by the Council and the 
Applicant would allow the Council to secure the provision of affordable 
housing to deliver on-site and/or an off-site contribution in lieu of on-site 
provision and to secure financial contributions towards recreational open 
space, education provision and a parking signage strategy in the event that 
Phase 2 is developed.

As a result of this advice the sections of the submitted report headed 
Delegation Scheme (page 4) and Recommendation and Conditions (page 75) 
were updated as follows:

Delegation Scheme
In accordance with the Town and Country Planning (Consultation) (England) 
Direction 2009, the application must be referred to the Secretary of State if the
Committee is minded to grant planning permission. The Committee has 
delegated authority to refuse the application. If the Secretary of State is not 
minded to 'call in' the application for determination, and following the 
completion of a satisfactory agreement under section 111 of the Local 
Government Act 1972 and such other relevant powers to secure the provision 
of affordable housing to deliver on site and/or an off-site contribution in lieu of 
on-site provision and to secure financial contributions towards recreational 
open space, education provision and a parking signage strategy on 
acquisition of the site for Phase 2 of the proposed Development and prior to 
its development the release of the decision notice would be deferred to the 
Assistant Director (Planning & Development).”

The developer will also be required to enter into highway and drainage 
agreements in association with the proposed development.

Recommendations and Conditions
That the Committee resolves that it would be minded to grant planning 
permission for the development and that the application be deferred and 
delegated to the Assistant Director (Planning & Development) subject to the 
following provisions: -
i) Referral to the Secretary of State for Communities and Local Government 
for consideration as to whether the application should be called in for 
determination under the Town and Country Planning (Consultation) (England) 
Direction 2009; and,
ii) Completion of an agreement under section 111 of the Local Government 
Act 1972 and such other relevant powers to secure the provision of a 
affordable housing scheme to deliver on site and/or an offsite contribution in 
lieu of on-site provision in accordance with the provisions of Core Strategy 
Polices C4 and DM2 and its associated SPD: Affordable Housing:

 A financial contribution towards the provision of primary schools places 
in Rochdale Township calculated by the pupil yield of the development 
(0.25 per dwelling) in accordance with Core Strategy Policies C7 and 
DM2,

Page 9



 A financial contribution towards the provision of secondary school 
places in Rochdale Township calculated by the pupil yield of the 
development (0.1 per dwelling) in accordance with Core Strategy 
Policies C7 and DM2,

 A financial contribution towards the provision of local and formal open 
space at Broadfield Park, in accordance with the provisions of Core 
Strategy Policy C8 and its associated SPD: Provision of Recreational 
Open Space in New Housing,

 A financial contribution towards the provision of a parking signage 
strategy, in accordance with Core Strategy Policies T1 and DM2, and,

iii) That, in the event the application is not called in by the Secretary of State 
and upon the satisfactory completion of the legal agreement pursuant to s.111 
of the Local Government Act 1972 that planning permission be granted as 
reported and subject to the following conditions.

 Separately the applicant will be required to enter into a Section 38 
Highways Act agreement to secure the provision of the new access 
road to adoptable standard, and completion of a Section 278 Highways 
Act agreement to secure:

o Amendments to Traffic Regulation Orders affected by the 
development.

o The making of any Traffic Regulation Orders’
o Provision of pedestrian crossing at the new junction of the new 

section of highway and John Street’
o Signal optimisation at Townhead junction in concert with new 

junction at John Street / new access road and improvements to 
John Street / Smith Street junction’

o New junction at John Street / new access road and closure of 
existing Baillie Street junction.

Additionally the applicant will be required to undertake the necessary 
temporary and permanent road closure orders though Sections 247 and 248 
of the Town & Country Planning Act. All other conditions as stated within the 
submitted report (pages 76 to 102) remained unchanged.

The Director of Economy advised the Committee of an objection to the 
application by Quod Planning on behalf of Mars Real Estate Investment the 
owner of the Exchange Shopping Centre in Rochdale, received subsequent to 
the publishing of the submitted report.  The objection raised issues around the 
size and scale of the development, the impact on existing retailers in the Town 
Centre and requested a ‘poaching condition’ be imposed upon any decision to 
grant planning permission  to prevent further tenants leaving the existing 
Primary Shopping Area through the expectation that only new retailers will 
occupy the units at the proposed site.  The Committee were advised that a 
written response to the objection had been received by the applicants 
planning consultants which highlighted their belief that the objection was a 
commercial objection from a property owner seeking to maintain the status 
quo within the town centre for their own financial gain and restricting retail 
competition, that the proposed site would increase the attractiveness and 
footfall within the Town Centre, therefore  The suggested condition is not only 
considered unnecessary but it will actively harm the vitality and viability of the 

Page 10



town centre and the planned investment at Rochdale Riverside.  Furthermore 
a letter had been received from the letting agents for the scheme detailing 
how the existing Marks and Spencer store did not allow for the supply of the 
full range of services the operator wanted to provide, that the inclusion of Next 
would underpin Rochdale for other prospective fashion led retailers and how 
the inclusion of Reel Cinemas would help underpin dwell time and extend and 
improve the evening economy.    Further targeting of fashion led retailers was 
taking place who were currently not represented in the town.    

Notwithstanding these late representations, the Director of Economy reported 
that it remained Officers’ view as expressed in the submitted report that the 
development is acceptable and has not led to any change in the 
recommendation before the Committee.

The Committee considered the views of Lucie Jowett from Quod Planning 
who addressed the Committee objecting to the application on behalf of the 
Mars Real Estate Investment.

The Committee considered the views of Richard Purser from DPP and Chris 
Wieszczycki of TP Bennett who addressed the Committee on behalf of the 
applicants.

The Committee considered the views of Councillor Zaheer who addressed the 
Committee in relation to the application.

Decision: That (1) the Committee is minded to approve the application which 
should be deferred and delegated to the Assistant Director (Planning & 
Development) subject to the following provisions: -
i) Referral to the Secretary of State for Communities and Local Government 
for consideration as to whether the application should be called in for 
determination under the Town and Country Planning (Consultation) (England) 
Direction 2009; and,
ii) Completion of an agreement under section 111 of the Local Government 
Act 1972 and such other relevant powers to secure:

 The provision of affordable housing scheme to deliver on site and/or an 
offsite contribution in lieu of on-site provision in accordance with the 
provisions of Core Strategy Polices C4 and DM2 and its associated 
SPD: Affordable Housing,

 A financial contribution towards the provision of primary schools places 
in Rochdale Township calculated by the pupil yield of the development 
(0.25 per dwelling) in accordance with Core Strategy Policies C7 and 
DM2,

 A financial contribution towards the provision of secondary school 
places in Rochdale Township calculated by the pupil yield of the 
development (0.1 per dwelling) in accordance with Core Strategy 
Policies C7 and DM2,

 A financial contribution towards the provision of local and formal open 
space at Broadfield Park, in accordance with the provisions of Core 
Strategy Policy C8 and its associated SPD: Provision of Recreational 
Open Space in New Housing,

Page 11



 A financial contribution towards the provision of a parking signage 
strategy, in accordance with Core Strategy Policies T1 and DM2, and,

iii) That, in the event the application is not called in by the Secretary of State 
and upon the satisfactory completion of the legal agreement pursuant to s.111 
of the Local Government Act 1972 that planning permission be granted 
subject to the conditions as  detailed in pages 76 – 102 of the submitted report 
and the following additional conditions:

 the applicant will be required to enter into a Section 38 Highways Act 
agreement to secure the provision of the new access road to adoptable 
standard, and completion of a Section 278 Highways Act agreement to 
secure:

o Amendments to Traffic Regulation Orders affected by the 
development,

o The making of any Traffic Regulation Orders,
o Provision of pedestrian crossing at the new junction of the new 

section of highway and John Street,
o Signal optimisation at Townhead junction in concert with new 

junction at John Street / new access road and improvements to 
John Street / Smith Street junction,

o New junction at John Street / new access road and closure of 
existing Baillie Street junction

(2) the applicant be required to undertake necessary temporary and 
permanent road closure orders though Sections 247 and 248 of the Town & 
Country Planning Act.

Reason for decision: The proposed developments will have a positive impact 
on the vitality and viability of the centre by increasing visitor numbers and 
footfall, extending the retail circuit, attracting retailers to the town centre, 
increasing the range and choice of retail for consumers, and increasing the 
expenditure spent in Rochdale town centre as a whole.

Page 12



Report to Planning and Licensing Committee

Date of Meeting 3rd July 2017
Portfolio Planning & Development
Report Author David Allen
Public/Private Document Public

16/01342/FUL - Hanson Point, Hanson Close Industrial Estate, Middleton

Proposal Summary

1.1

1.2

Planning permission is sought for the change of use from Use Class B8 to a 
mixed use comprising Class B1 (Business), B2 (General Industrial) and B8 
(Storage or Distribution).

External alterations include the removal of existing dock levellers and 
replacement with 3 no. loading doors; the formation of a recessed ramp; the 
installation of an external cardboard compactor and a gas storage tank; and 
the use of an identified part of the yard for storage. 

Recommendation

2.1 GRANT subject to the schedule of conditions listed in the report. 

Reason for Recommendation

3.1

3.2

The proposed development comprises an employment use within a 
designated employment area.  The proposed works to the building are 
acceptable in design terms, and the proposed use is acceptable in terms of 
the amenity of neighbouring residents, subject to the imposition of appropriate 
conditions.  

The proposal is considered to comprise sustainable development in 
accordance with the development plan and the National Planning Policy 
Framework.  The recommendation is therefore that planning permission 
should be granted.

Page 13

Agenda Item 6a



Application Number: 16/01342/FUL    Ward: North Middleton  Township: Middleton      

Proposal: Change of use to B1(a) (Office), B2 (General Industrial) and B8 (Storage or 
Distribution). Alterations to front elevation to accommodate for 2 full height shutters, 1 
full height shutter with pit-mounted dock leveller and formation of recessed ramp to 
frontage of loading doors. Provision of external cardboard compactor and gas tank in 
yard area. Use of part of yard area for external storage.

Site Address: Hanson Point Hanson Close Industrial Estate Hanson Close Middleton 

Applicant: Mr Zuhaib Judge                  

Agent: N/A             

RECOMMENDATION: Grant subject to conditions

DELEGATION

The application falls to be determined by the Planning and Licensing Committee as more 
than 10 separately addressed letters of objection have been received contrary to the 
recommendation for approval. 

SITE

The application relates to Hanson Point at Hanson Close Industrial Estate in Middleton, a 
large building with an adjoining office wing to the east, which benefits from an associated 
open service yard and car park area to the south west. The car park is accessed from 

Page 14



Hanson Close at the southwestern end of the site and is separated from the yard area by a 
public footpath, which runs from west to east across the site and is fenced off. Vehicular 
access to the yard and building can be gained across this footpath via an automatic security 
gate.

The site is bounded to the southeast by the River Irk, beyond which lies a large area of 
terraced housing (Hulbert Street, Thornley Street) and a flat complex at Wolstenvale Close. 
These dwellings are elevated, by approximately 6 metres, in relation to the application site 
by virtue of the changing land levels. There are also surrounding residential properties to the 
northwest on Jubilee Road. Again, these houses are elevated above the level of the 
industrial estate and there is a high, red brick wall between the estate and these dwellings. 
There are further industrial and business premises to the west, northwest and northeast of 
the site. 

The site is presently unoccupied and is advertised to let. Presently, the site has planning 
permission for use within Use Class B8 (Storage or Distribution), though it has previously 
been used for general industrial purposes (within Use Class B2). Hours of external 
operation/vehicle movement at the site are currently restricted to between 0500 and 2400 by 
virtue of a planning condition attached to a previous consent.

PROPOSAL

The application seeks planning permission for:
 Change of use from Use Class B8 (Storage and Distribution) to a mixed use 

comprising Class B1 (Business) [approx. 609m2 – existing office accommodation in 
the south east corner of the site], B2 (General Industrial) [approx. 4,153m2 – for the 
production of cardboard cores] and B8 [approx. 5,989m2 – for the storage and 
distribution of finished cardboard products]

o Operating in a triple shift pattern Monday to Friday:
 0600-1400 8 production lines running
 1400-2200 3 production lines running
 2200-0600 1 production line running

o Occasional weekend working limited to 2 production lines running
o Deliveries between the hours of 0600-2300 Monday to Friday, with 1 to 2 

deliveries estimated per hour. Incoming goods largely unloaded internally, 
occasional external unloading. Outgoing goods to be loaded internally using 
roller shutter doors. 

o Use of external yard for external storage within defined areas
 Removal of 10no. existing dock levellers within the front (south western) elevation of 

the building and replacement with 3no. loading doors and recladding as appropriate
 Formation of recessed ramp to front of building providing access to internal dock 

levellers/new loading doors
 Installation of cardboard compactor in the external yard space, to be operated 

between 0600 and 1400 Monday to Friday 
 Installation of gas storage tank in the external yard space

RELEVANT PLANNING POLICY

National

National Planning Policy Framework 

The Department for Communities and Local Government published the National Planning 
Policy Framework (NPPF) on 27 March 2012.  The NPPF set out the Government’s planning 
policies for England and how these are expected to be applied.  

National Planning Policy Guidance

Page 15



The government published its National Planning Practice Guidance on 6 March 2014. This 
is intended to complement the National Planning Policy Framework and to provide a single 
resource for planning guidance, whilst rationalising and streamlining the material. Almost all 
previous planning Circulars and advice notes have been cancelled. Specific reference will 
be made to the NPPG or other national advice in the Analysis section of the report, where 
appropriate.

Core Strategy (CS):

The Core Strategy was formally adopted by the Council on 19th October 2016 and partially 
replaces the 2006 Unitary Development Plan. The following policies are relevant: 

SO1 Delivering a more prosperous economy
E2 Increasing jobs and prosperity

SO3 Improving design, image and quality of place
P1 Improving image
P2 Protecting and enhancing character, landscape and heritage
P3 Improving design of new development

SO4 Promoting a greener environment
G7 Increasing the value of biodiversity and geodiversity
G8 Managing water resources and flood risk
G9 Reducing the impact of pollution

SO5 Improving accessibility and delivering sustainable transport
T2 Improving accessibility

DM1 General development requirements

Unitary Development Plan (UDP): 

A number of policies contained within the Unitary Development Plan have been saved 
following the adoption of the Core Strategy. The following saved policies are relevant:

G/D/1              Defined Urban Area
EC/3 Mixed Employment Zones (to be read in conjunction with CS Policies E2 and 

E3 until replaced by Site Allocations or other DPD)
EM/7 Development and Flood Risk (to be read in conjunction with CS Policy G8 

until replaced by Site Allocations or other DPD)
EM/8 Protection of Surface and Ground Water (to be read in conjunction with CS 

Policy G8 until replaced by Site Allocations or other DPD)

RELEVANT PLANNING HISTORY

99/D37175 Change Of Use From General Industrial (Class B2) to Warehousing 
And Distribution (Class B8)

02/D40309 Increase In Roof Height Of Existing Industrial Unit – Granted STC

02/D40357 Continuance Of Use As A Distribution Warehouse Without 
Compliance With Condition 3 Of D37175 Regarding Restriction Of 
Movement And Loading/Unloading Of Vehicles 22.00 Hours And 
07.00 Hours On Any Day – Refused 

03/D41187 Continuance Of Use As A Distribution Warehouse With A Variation Of 
Condition 3 Of Planning Permission D37175 To Read That No 

Page 16



Movement Of Vehicles Or Loading/Unloading Of Vehicles Shall Take 
Place Within The Area Hatched On The Approved Plan After 24.00 
Hours Or Before 05.00 Hours On Any Day – Granted STC

03/D42733 Continuance Of Use As A Distribution Warehouse With A Variation Of 
Condition 04 Of Planning Permission D41187 To Permit Waste 
Containers To Be Sited Outside The Buildings On Site – Granted STC

15/01007/VRCON Application to remove conditions 2 to 9 of planning permission 
D41187 - Withdrawn

16/00112/FUL Erection of canopy over existing loading bay on front elevation – 
Granted STC

CONSULTATION RESPONSES

Drainage (LLFA) – No comment

Environment Agency - No objection in principle to the proposed access changes.

Following receipt of amended plans, a further consultation response was received:

No further comment other than the site stands within Flood Zone 1.

Greater Manchester Ecology Unit – There are unlikely to be any ecological implications 
associated with this development. The building subject to the application is a low risk design 
for bat roosting and bird nesting and the proposed external impacts to elevations minor. The 
building is however located in a high risk area owing to the proximity of the River Irk. On 
balance however all that is required would be an informative [reminding the applicant of the 
protection to bats afforded by the Habitat Regulations].

Following receipt of amended plans, a further consultation response was received:

Comments regarding bats remain unchanged. The amended plans indicate a number of 
external storage/recycling areas on the boundary with the River Irk, including pallet storage; 
cardboard compression and gas tanks.  The proximity of these three proposals to the river 
could result indirectly in potential negative impacts on the River Irk contrary to the EU Water 
Framework Directive e.g. pallets could theoretically fall in to the river providing obstructions; 
pollution from the cardboard compactor could also occur as well as windblown cardboard in 
to the river and whilst the gas in the tank is unlikely to cause any impact if it leaks, 
presumably when the tank is refilled/changed there is a risk of pollution from any vehicles. 

Ideally all three would be sited away from the River. However the risks are indirect and low. I 
would therefore recommend that more information is supplied on the measures that are/will 
be put in place to prevent any negative impacts on the Irk.  This information could be 
supplied prior to determination, but I am satisfied that the risks are low enough that the 
detail could be conditioned.

Highways and Engineering - To meet maximum standards set in the Core Strategy a 
development of this size and nature requires the following dedicated parking provision:

B1(a) 609m2       - 17 Spaces 
B2     4,153m2     - 69 Spaces 
B8     5,989m2     - 60 Spaces 
Total                     - 146 Spaces 

The applicant has proposed 73 dedicated parking spaces to serve the proposed 
development; however these parking standards are set as a maximum level of parking and 

Page 17



provide a reference point to allow districts to vary the standards based on local 
needs/circumstances. 

Staff levels at the proposed development will be around 50, with an 8-10 likely staffing 
increase over a three and a half year period. In addition to this staff will work in shifts 
therefore employees will not all access the development at the same time. Due to this the 
level of dedicated parking proposed will be sufficient to serve the proposed development 
and a reduction in the maximum standards will create no significant negative impact upon 
the highway surrounding the proposed development. However, a car park of this size 
requires 4 disabled bays within the total capacity; the car parking layout should be revised to 
include this provision. 

A development of this size and nature at this location will create no significant negative 
impact upon the local network capacity or road safety. No new access to the highway will be 
created by this development. Rochdale Borough Councils Highways Service has no 
concerns regarding refuse collection from this location. This application will not impact upon 
the highways layout. Highways drainage will not change as a result of this development. No 
public right of way will be obstructed by this development.

Public Protection (Noise) – This section has no objection in principal to the proposal but 
would recommend the following conditions – as per the submitted acoustic report the site 
hours are conditioned as follows:

 Lorry movements (external), loading/unloading of lorries (internal) are restricted to 
0600-2300 Monday to Friday;

 Noise levels from the site shall not exceed 41 dB(A)Leq 1 hour between 0600-2300 and 
32 dB(A) Leq 15 minutes between 2300-0600

 A lighting scheme is submitted and agreed

It is worth noting that as the unit has stood empty for some years the closest residential 
properties may not be aware of normal noise and activity expected form a site of this nature. 
The submitted report has adequately shown that the noise will have a Negligible/Low Impact 
during the daytime and negligible overnight.  

Rights of Way Officer – According to our records the proposed development will not impact 
on any definitive public rights of way. Accordingly, we have no comments on the application.

REPRESENTATIONS

Letters of notification were sent to 156 surrounding properties, notices displayed on Hanson 
Close, Wolstenvale Close, Thornley Street/Hilton Fold Lane and Jubilee Road, and an 
advert placed in the local press. Following receipt of amended plans, further notification 
letters were issued to neighbouring properties and those who had already submitted 
comments. Letters of objection have been received from 31 separate properties in response 
to this publicity, as summarised below:

 The move to 24/7 industrial operation will adversely affect the many neighbouring 
properties

 Noise from movement of vehicles within the yard causing disturbance to 
neighbouring properties

 Use of a compactor will cause significant disturbance
 Industrial operations should not be permitted in the heart of a residential area
 Recollect issues with the previous occupants, Littlewoods, with noise pollution from 

vehicle movements and operations
Officer response - The above issues are considered in full detail in the relevant 
amenity standards section below.

 Allowing this application would contravene all the conditions previously imposed on 
the site

Page 18



Officer response - The existing conditions imposed on the site were specific to the 
use of the site for storage and distribution purposes. A new grant of planning 
permission for change of use of the premises would, if implemented, supersede the 
extant permission. 

 The proposed use would be better suited to Kingsway or Stakehill Business Parks
Officer response - Potential alternative locations are not a material planning 
consideration. The site is allocated as Mixed Use Employment area under the 
Development Plan.

 Concern over volume of vehicle movements of staff arriving to and from shifts
 Increase in HGV traffic

Officer response - The above issues are considered in full detail in the relevant 
highways section below.

 A planning application for 24/7 working in 2015 was rejected – what has changed 
since then?
Officer response - The application referred to (15/01007/VRCON) sought a removal 
of a number of conditions on planning permission D41187, seeking unrestricted use 
of the site for storage and distribution purposes. The present application seeks a 
change of use in order to use the facility for manufacturing.

 Concern over light pollution from the site
Officer response - The application proposes no change to the existing external 
lighting. A condition is proposed requiring details of any proposed additional lighting 
on the building to be submitted to the local planning authority for approval.  Should 
additional column floodlighting be required in the future, separate consent would be 
required.  

 Impact on value and saleability of neighbouring properties
Officer response - The impact of development on property values is not a material 
planning consideration.

 Concern over the presence of a gas tank on site within the vicinity of residential 
properties

 Risk of fire and explosion in yard area from external storage
Officer response - The proposed LPG tank would be of a similar scale to those found 
at domestic properties which are ‘off-grid’. Any Health and Safety concerns would fall 
under the remit of the Health and Safety Executive.

ANALYSIS

Principle of Development 

Paragraphs 14 and 15 of the NPPF set out the ‘presumption in favour of sustainable 
development’ and state that development that accords with the development plan should be 
approved without delay. 

The application site is allocated as Defined Urban Area under saved Policy G/D/1 of the 
Rochdale Unitary Development Plan, which aims to locate new development in the urban 
area to support regeneration and to protect the countryside. 

Paragraphs 18 to 22 of the NPPF set out the Government’s desire for building strong, 
competitive economy and set out that local planning authorities should plan proactively to 
meet the development needs of business and support an economy fit for the 21st century.

Page 19



The application site stands in an area designated as a Mixed Employment Zone under the 
Unitary Development Plan Proposals Maps, and saved Policy EC/3 is therefore relevant. 
The policy sets out that development and change of use to, amongst others, Classes B1, B2 
and B8 is acceptable. CS Policy E2 set out that the Council will promote the regeneration of 
major employment locations suitable for continued employment use. On this basis, it is 
considered that the proposed change of use is acceptable in principle. 

Design, Layout and Scale

Paragraphs 56 and 58 of the National Planning Policy Framework and Policy P3 of the Core 
Strategy requires all new developments, including associated landscaping, regardless of 
location, to adhere to high standards of design. 

The proposed external alterations to the building would include the removal of the existing 
dock levellers and the subsequent replacement with three new roller shutter access doors 
and a recessed ramp. The alterations are considered to be suitable additions to a building of 
this scale and architectural type, and would be in keeping with the industrial nature of the 
immediate surroundings. It is recommended that a condition be attached requiring 
submission of materials to be used in the proposed works. 

The application seeks permission for the use of identified areas of the yard for limited 
external storage. It is noted that the proposed end-user of the facility (Corenso) produces 
cardboard cores, and therefore would seek to avoid placing finished product in external 
areas where it would be subject to the elements. Instead, the external storage areas are 
requested in order to store wooden pallets, which are used in the delivery of raw materials, 
and glue containers. It is noted that the requested areas amount to a relatively minimal 
proportion of the yard and one such area is contained unobtrusively between the two 
buildings on site. Given the nature of the immediate surroundings, it is not considered that 
this limited level of external storage would be detrimental to the visual amenity of the area; 
however, it is recommended that a condition be attached to the permission requiring the 
submission of details of amended boundary treatments for the site to ensure an element of 
screening. 

The application also seeks permission for the installation of an external waste compactor 
and an LPG tank within the yard area. The waste cardboard compactor is largely similar in 
appearance to a shipping container, and is of a similar size and scale. The proposed LPG 
tank (to be used for the refuelling of fork-lift trucks) is of a similar size and nature to that 
which is often found at domestic premises which are ‘off-grid’. It is necessary for the tank to 
be surrounded by protective barriers/walling. Again, given the context of the site, it is not 
considered that either of these elements would look incongruous or result in an undue 
impact to the visual amenities of the site.

The applicant has indicated that they intend to construct a ‘wash station’ on site - used for 
cleaning glue tanks etc. Limited indicative detail is available at present as the intended end 
occupier would need to commission a bespoke unit for their purposes. On this basis, the 
applicant is advised that the wash station does not form part of the current application and a 
separate application for planning permission, once full details are available, would be 
required.

In light of the above assessment, it is considered that the proposed works would have an 
acceptable impact on the visual amenities and character of the area, and of the host 
building, and therefore meet the requirements of Policy P3 of the Core Strategy and the 
National Planning Policy Framework.

Amenity Standards

Policy DM1 of the Core Strategy sets out a number of basic planning considerations that 
apply to all development. Further to this, paragraph 17 of the NPPF, containing the ‘core 

Page 20



planning principles’, advises that planning should always seek to secure a good standard of 
amenity for all existing and future occupants of land and buildings.

It is not considered that the proposed external alterations to the building itself would have 
any undue impact on the amenity of neighbouring occupiers – no additional window 
openings etc. would be inserted in elevations facing towards residential properties and the 
building is of sufficient distance from any dwelling so as to avoid any overbearing impact. 

CS Policy G9 sets out that the Council will require that development does not have impacts 
that lead to an unacceptable increase in air, water, noise, light or other pollution and where 
necessary will use planning conditions or obligations to control pollution from new 
development. 

Paragraph 123 of the National Planning Policy Framework states that planning policies and 
decisions should aim to avoid noise from giving rise to significant adverse impact on health 
and quality of life as a result of new development.

Guidance in the National Planning Practice Guidance advises on how planning can manage 
potential noise impacts in new development and sets out that local planning authorities 
decision taking should take account of the acoustic environment and in doing so consider:

 whether or not a significant adverse effect is occurring or likely to occur;
 whether or not an adverse effect is occurring or likely to occur; and
 whether or not a good standard of amenity can be achieved.

In line with the Noise Policy Statement for England (DEFRA, March 2010) this includes 
identifying whether the overall effect of the noise exposure is, or would be, above or below 
the significant observed adverse effect level and the lowest observed adverse effect level for 
the given situation. 

The observed effect levels are:
 Significant observed adverse effect level (SOAEL): the level of noise exposure above 

which significant adverse effects on health and quality of life occur
 Lower observed adverse effect level: the level of noise exposure above which 

adverse effects on health and quality of life can be detected
 No observed effect level: the level of noise exposure below which no effect at all on 

health or quality of life can be detected.

It is not possible to have a single objective noise-based measure that defines SOAEL that is 
applicable to all sources of noise in all situations. Consequently, the SOAEL is likely to be 
different for different noise sources, for different receptors and at different times.

At the lowest extreme, when noise is not noticeable, there is by definition no effect. As the 
noise exposure increases, it will cross the no observed effect level as it becomes noticeable. 
However, the noise has no adverse effect so long as the exposure is such that it does not 
cause any change in behaviour or attitude. The noise can slightly affect the acoustic 
character of an area but not to the extent there is a perceived change in quality of life. If the 
noise exposure is at this level no specific measures are required to manage the acoustic 
environment.

The subjective nature of noise means that there is not a simple relationship between noise 
levels and the impact on those affected. This will depend on how various factors combine in 
any particular situation. These factors include the source and absolute level of the noise, 
together with the time of day it occurs; and the spectral content and the general character of 
the noise.

In order to assess the potential impact of the extended opening hours, the applicant has 
commissioned a detailed noise impact assessment which provides an assessment of the 

Page 21



potential development in accordance with British Standard 4142:2014 (Method for rating and 
assessing industrial and commercial sound). In using this method, the impact of a specific 
sound is indicated by subtracting the existing background noise level from the rating level 
(i.e. noise level from the proposed items of plant/machinery/etc. plus any acoustic feature 
corrections). 

Environmental noise monitoring was undertaken from approximately 1230 on Tuesday 16th 
August 2016 until 1300 on Friday 19th September 2016 at two points around the site – 
position 1 at the northern boundary of the site near to Jubilee Road, position 2 at the 
southern boundary of the site near to the River Irk. The representative background noise 
levels are presented in Table 1 below:

Representative LA90 Background Noise Level
Position Daytime (0700-2300) Night-Time (2300-0700)

1 38 34
2 40 35

Table 1

Noise measurements were undertaken at Corenso’s existing site in Bolton in order to 
measure the specific noise levels generated by various industrial activities undertaken at the 
site. The noise assessment identifies the following proposed operations which would have 
potential for the greatest noise impact on nearby residential development:

- Lorry movements (External)
o Deliveries/pickups between 0600 and 2300 hours Monday to Friday
o External lorry movement to take approx. 3 minutes upon arrival and when 

leaving site
o Approximately 15-20 deliveries during each day – 1-2 deliveries per hour
o No deliveries/pickups over the weekend

- Loading/unloading of lorries (Internal & limited external)
o Largely to take place within the warehouse (outgoing goods) with limited 

external unloading (incoming raw materials)
- Waste/cardboard compacting (External)

o Operated between the hours of 0600 and 1400 Monday to Friday
- Cardboard processing machines/cardboard bailer (Internal)

o Eight production lines on site – Monday to Friday
o 0600-1400 - 8 lines running
o 1400-2200 – 3 lines running
o 2200-0600 – 1 line running
o During limited weekend operations, maximum 2 lines running

- Wash station (External)
o Single high pressure jet wash
o Used on average two full days per annum 

An assessment has thereafter been carried out in accordance with the methodology set out 
in British Standard 4142:2014, with the outcome in Table 2 below.

It is noted that the assessment in Table 2 is based on internal goods loading/unloading – 
this is to be the case for the majority of the time though it is noted that occasional external 
loading/unloading would be necessary – the noise levels of these operations have been 
reviewed and would have an excess of 6dBA over the background sound level. However, 
given that these events are to be infrequent, it is unlikely to give rise to an adverse impact.

The potential noise from the wash station has also not been included in the cumulative 
effect calculation as operation of the unit would only be for two days per annum. 
Notwithstanding this, it is noted that separate planning permission is required for the 
proposed wash station and it does not therefore constitute part of this application.

Page 22



Operation Rating Level Excess of Rating Level over 
Background Sound Level Impact

Lorry movements 
(external) 23 dBA -15 dBA

Lorry 
loading/unloading 

(internal)
26 dBA -12 dBA

Cardboard 
compactor (external) 31 dBA -7 dBA

Cardboard 
processing 

machines/cardboard 
bailer (internal)

41 dBA 3 dBA

Negligible

Cumulative effect 41 dBA 3 dBA Negligible/Low 
Impact

Table 2

The assessment in Table 2 is based on daytime operating hours – during night-time hours it 
is recognised that no external operations (deliveries, cardboard compacting etc.) would be 
undertaken. Although background noise levels have been found to be 4dB lower during 
these hours, the reduction of the number of production lines operating internally (down to a 
single line) would reduce noise emissions by approximately 9dB – the impact would again 
therefore be negligible. 

Detailed consultation has been undertaken with the Council’s Public Protection (Noise) 
service, which has advised that they have no objection in principal to the proposal and note 
that the submitted Noise Impact Assessment has adequately shown that the noise will have 
a negligible/low impact during the daytime and negligible impact overnight. They have 
recommended that conditions be attached to the permission requiring that noise levels from 
the site do not exceed 41 dB(A) Leq 1 hour between 0600-2300 and 32 dB(A) Leq 15 minutes 
between 2300-0600.  A condition is also requested requiring external lorry movements and 
associated loading/unloading to be restricted to 0600-2300 Monday to Friday.

In line with the comments of the Public Protection Officer – it should be noted that the 
current application represents a change of use of an existing unit and the site ultimately 
currently benefits from an extant permission for use as a storage and distribution unit (and 
has previously had permission for use for general industrial purposes in the past). In a worst 
case scenario, the site could currently be utilised by a distribution company with 
deliveries/despatch taking place between the hours of 0500 and 2400 on any day – an 
operation likely to result in significantly higher levels of activity than would be carried out by 
the proposed occupiers. 

Whilst it is noted that residents will have become accustomed to low levels of activity on the 
site since the unit became vacant some years ago, and may not be aware of the normal 
noise and activity expected form a site of this nature, the submitted report has adequately 
shown that the noise will have a negligible/low impact during the daytime and negligible 
impact overnight.

Whilst it is noted that the previous consent for the site was subject to restrictions relating to 
the use of reversing alarms, this is not considered to represent a reasonable condition to 
impose at present. The applicant has indicated that the majority of HGVs which arrive on the 
site do not possess the ability to deactivate the alarms and that they comprise an essential 
provision under the Health and Safety requirements of the site.  In addition, such a condition 
is not considered necessary as the overall noise generation from the site will be controlled.  

The application proposes no change to the existing external lighting at the site. A condition 
is proposed requiring details of any proposed additional lighting on the building to be 
submitted to the local planning authority for approval.  Should additional column floodlighting 
be required in the future, separate consent would be required.  

Page 23



In light of the above assessment, it is considered on balance that the proposed operations 
could be undertaken at the site in accordance with the submitted details without resulting in 
any significant adverse impact on the amenity of surrounding residents. Subject to the 
appropriate conditions recommended, it is considered that the proposal accords with 
Policies DM1 and G9 of the Core Strategy and with the National Planning Policy Framework.

Highways, Access and Parking

Policy T2 of the emerging Core sets out that development and infrastructure proposals are 
required to satisfy the Council’s accessibility hierarchy and in all circumstances, the safety, 
accessibility and amenity of those who live or have business in the area will have priority, 
while providing reliable journey times for those travelling through. Developments are 
required to provide parking in compliance with the Council’s Maximum Car Parking 
Standards as set out in Appendix 5 of the CS.

Paragraph 32 of the NPPF states that development should only be prevented or refused on 
transport grounds where the residual cumulative impacts of development are severe. 

To meet maximum standards set in the Core Strategy a development of this size and nature 
requires the following dedicated parking provision:

Use Area Provision
B1(a) 609m2 17 spaces
B2 4,153m2 69 spaces
B8 5,989m2 60 spaces

146 Spaces
Table 3

The applicant has proposed 73 dedicated parking spaces to serve the proposed 
development. However, it is noted that the parking standards within the Core Strategy are 
set as a maximum level of parking and provide a reference point to allow variation based on 
local needs/circumstances. Staff levels at the proposed development will be around 50, with 
an 8-10 likely staffing increase over a three and a half year period. In addition to this, staff 
will work in shifts and employees will not all be present on site at the same time. 

Taking this into account, the level of dedicated parking proposed is considered sufficient to 
serve the proposed development and a provision falling short of the maximum standards is 
not anticipated to create a significant negative impact upon the highway surrounding the 
proposed development. 

Consultation has been undertaken with the Highways Authority, which has raised no 
objection to the scheme. Further to the above, they note that a development of this size and 
nature at this location would create no significant negative impact upon the local network 
capacity or road safety – it is noted that the proposed use of the site would result in 
significantly fewer vehicle movements than a sole storage and distribution facility. No new 
access to the highway would be created, with the development utilising the existing entrance 
to Hanson Close. No concerns are raised regarding refuse collection. No public right of way 
will be obstructed by this development.

In light of the above, it is considered that the proposed development would have an 
acceptable impact on the surrounding highway network and therefore meets the 
requirements of Policy T2 of the Core Strategy and the National Planning Policy Framework.

Page 24



Flood Risk, Drainage and Ecology

Policy G8 of the Core Strategy sets out the Council’s strategy for managing water resources 
and flood risk more effectively in the interests of public safety, protecting property and 
infrastructure and the conservation of the natural environment.

The site falls within Flood Zone 1 and is therefore at a low risk of flooding (less than 1 in 
1000 or 0.1% annual probability of river or sea flooding in any year). Consultation has taken 
place with the Council’s Drainage consultee, as the Lead Local Flood Authority, and the 
Environment Agency who have raised no objection on the basis of the submitted 
information. 

Policy G7 of the Core Strategy seeks to ensure that sites and features of biodiversity and 
geodiversity importance are given full and appropriate recognition and protection. 

Consultation was undertaken with the Greater Manchester Ecology Unit, as the site lies 
adjacent to the River Irk. Officers of the Ecology Unit have noted that there are unlikely to be 
any ecological implications associated with this development. The building subject to the 
application is a low risk design for bat roosting and bird nesting, and the proposed external 
impacts to elevations are minor. The building is however located in a high risk area owing to 
the proximity of the River Irk - on balance they consider all that is required would be an 
informative reminding the applicant of the protection to bats afforded by the Habitat 
Regulations.

The amended plans indicate a number of external storage/recycling areas on the boundary 
with the River Irk, including pallet storage; cardboard compression and gas tanks. The 
proximity of these three proposals to the river could result indirectly in potential negative 
impacts on the River Irk contrary to the EU Water Framework Directive e.g. pallets could 
theoretically fall in to the river providing obstructions; pollution from the cardboard 
compactor could also occur as well as windblown cardboard in to the river and whilst the 
gas in the tank is unlikely to cause any impact if it leaks, presumably when the tank is 
refilled/changed there is a risk of pollution from any vehicles. 

Whilst ideally all three would be sited away from the river, it is noted that this may result in 
operational difficulties in terms of utilising the external yard space for deliveries. However, 
GMEU are satisfied that the risks are indirect and low - they therefore recommend that more 
information is supplied on the measures that are/will be put in place to prevent any negative 
impacts on the Irk and are satisfied for this information to be required by condition.

Conclusion and the Balancing Exercise

The proposed development would comprise a satisfactory use of the site in principle, being 
an employment generating use (B1, B2 and B8) within an identified Mixed Employment 
Zone. Whilst the concerns of local residents relating to the potential noise impacts of the 
scheme are noted, the submitted Noise Impact Assessment demonstrates that operations 
could be undertaken at the site in accordance with the details provided without resulting in 
an unacceptable adverse effect on the amenity of surrounding residents, subject to the 
imposition of appropriate conditions.  It is also noted that the site could currently be utilised 
by a distribution company with deliveries/despatch taking place between the hours of 0500 
and 2400 on any day.

Therefore, on balance, the proposal is considered to comprise sustainable development and 
in accordance with paragraphs 14 and 15 of the NPPF should be approved without delay.

Page 25



RECOMMENDATION

Grant subject to the following conditions:-

 1 The development must be begun not later than three years beginning with the date of 
this permission.

Reason: Required to be imposed by Section 91 of the Town and Country Planning Act 
1990 (as amended).

 2 This permission relates to the following plans:- 

- OS_PLAN_LOCATION drawing no. PPC101 dated Feb ‘17
- Existing Site Plan drawing no. PPC101 dated Jan ‘17
- Existing Elevations drawing no. PPC101 dated Dec ‘15
- Proposed Site Plan drawing no. PPC101 received 01/06/2017
- Existing Warehouse with Proposed Machinery Plan and Accessways Shown 

drawing no. PROPOSED PLAN LAYOUT_02 rev. A
- Proposed Recessed Ramp drawing no. PPC101 dated June ‘16
- New Loading Docks & Recessed Ramp drawing no. PPC101 dated June ‘16
- External Cardboard Compactor and Gas Tank Details received 04.05.17

And the development shall not be carried out other than in complete accordance with 
these drawings hereby approved.

Reason: For the avoidance of doubt and to ensure a satisfactory standard of 
development in accordance with the policies contained within the adopted Rochdale 
Core Strategy, the saved policies of the Rochdale Unitary Development Plan and the 
National Planning Policy Framework.

 3 Notwithstanding any description of materials in the application no above ground 
construction works shall take place until samples and full specifications of materials to 
be used externally on the building have been submitted to and approved in writing by 
the Local Planning Authority. Such details shall include the type, colour and texture of 
the materials. Development shall be carried out in accordance with the approved 
details.

Reason: In order to ensure a satisfactory appearance in the interests of visual amenity 
in accordance with Policy P3 of the adopted Rochdale Core Strategy and the 
requirements of the National Planning Policy Framework.

4 No development shall take place until an Environmental Method Statement has been 
submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The submitted 
statement shall include details of protection measures during both the construction and 
occupation phase of the development in respect of the adjacent River Irk. Once 
approved, the development shall only be carried out in complete accordance with the 
details submitted in the Environmental Method Statement.

Reason: In order to prevent an adverse impact on the adjacent SBI and to protect 
natural habitat in accordance with Policies DM1 and G7 of the adopted Rochdale Core 
Strategy and the National Planning Policy Framework. 

5 The site shall not be occupied under the planning permission hereby granted until a 
detailed scheme of boundary treatments, including screening to the external storage 
area, has been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. 
The duly approved boundary treatments shall be constructed in full in accordance with 

Page 26



the approved details within one month of first occupation under the planning 
permission hereby granted and shall be retained as such thereafter.

Reason: In order to ensure a satisfactory appearance in the interests of visual amenity 
in accordance with the requirements of Policy P3 of the adopted Rochdale Core 
Strategy and the National Planning Policy Framework.

6 No works for the installation of the LPG tank shall be undertaken until such time as a 
detailed scheme, including but not limited to detail of the proposed safety barriers and 
bund walling, for the proposed tank has been submitted to and approved in writing by 
the Local Planning Authority. The LPG tank shall be installed in accordance with the 
approved details. 

Reason: In order to ensure a satisfactory appearance in the interests of visual amenity 
in accordance with the requirements of Policy P3 of the adopted Rochdale Core 
Strategy and the National Planning Policy Framework.

7 The level of noise from the site shall not exceed 41 dB(A)Leq 1 hour between 0600-
2300 and 32 dB(A) Leq 15 minutes between 2300-0600 on any day when measured at 
one metre from any point on the façade of any building occupied for residential 
purposes adjacent to the site. 

Reason: In the interests of ensuring a satisfactory standard of amenity for surrounding 
residential properties  in accordance with Policies DM1 and G9 of the adopted 
Rochdale Core Strategy and the National Planning Policy Framework.

8 No movements of goods vehicles or loading/unloading of goods vehicles shall take 
place within the site except between the hours of 0600-2300 Monday to Friday.

Reason: In the interests of ensuring a satisfactory standard of amenity for surrounding 
residential properties  in accordance with Policies DM1 and G9 of the adopted 
Rochdale Core Strategy and the National Planning Policy Framework.

9 The external compactor shall not be operated except between the hours of 0700-1700 
Monday to Friday.

Reason: In the interests of ensuring a satisfactory standard of amenity for surrounding 
residential properties  in accordance with Policies DM1 and G9 of the adopted 
Rochdale Core Strategy and the National Planning Policy Framework.

10 No materials, goods, plant, machinery, equipment, finished or unfinished 
products/parts of any description, skips, crates, containers, waste or any other item 
whatsoever shall be placed, stacked, deposited or stored outside any building on the 
site, except within the designated areas shown on the approved plan (Proposed Site 
Plan drawing no. PPC101 received 01/06/2017). Such items within the designated 
area shall not be placed, stacked, deposited or stored above a height of 3m above the 
existing ground level of the yard without the prior approval in writing of the Local 
Planning Authority.

Reason: In the interests of the appearance of the site, the amenities of the area and 
the safe and convenient movement of vehicles within the site in accordance with 
policies P3, DM1 and T2 of the adopted Rochdale Core Strategy and the National 
Planning Policy Framework.

11 Vehicle movements to and from the site shall only take place via the existing access to 
the adopted highway Hanson Close and by no other means. 

Page 27



Reason: In order to safeguard the amenities of the area and ensure safe and 
appropriate access to the site in accordance with Policies DM1, G9 and T2 of the 
adopted Rochdale Core Strategy and the National Planning Policy Framework.

12 No further external lighting shall be installed on the building until such time as full 
details of the same have been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local 
Planning Authority. The external lighting shall thereafter be installed in complete 
accordance with the approved details.

Reason: In order to ensure a satisfactory appearance in the interests of visual amenity 
and to prevent nuisance arising in accordance with Policies P3, G9 and DM1 of the 
adopted Rochdale Core Strategy and the National Planning Policy Framework.

INFORMATIVE:

Whilst the subject building has been assessed as low risk for bats, the applicant is reminded 
that under the Habitat Regulations it is an offence to disturb, harm or kill bats. If a bat is 
found during construction, all work should cease immediately and a suitably licensed bat 
worker employed to assess how best to safeguard the bat(s). Natural England should also 
be informed.

INFORMATIVE:

The applicant is reminded of the need to obtain separate Planning Permission for any 
development associated with the proposed ‘Wash Station’ or for any scheme of free-
standing external lighting, neither of which fall within the remit of this permission. 

Report Author David Allen

Page 28



Planning and Licensing

Date of Meeting 3rd July 2017
Portfolio Planning
Report Author Paul Ambrose
Public/Private Document Public

16/00202/S106 – Former Alexander Drew Site, Mellor Street, Rochdale

Proposal Summary

1.1

1.2

Planning permission (08/D51596) was granted for the construction of 90 
dwellings on the site in 2010. The development is currently under construction 
and to date 52 dwellings have been completed.  The Section 106 agreement 
required the provision of on-site open space to be offered to the Council, and 
financial contributions for the maintenance of the on-site local open space, off-
site local open space and outdoor sports provision and junction improvements 
at Spotland Bridge.

The applicant seeks permission to modify the Section 106 agreement to 
remove the requirement to make financial contributions towards off-site local 
open space, outdoor sports provision and junction improvement works.  

Recommendation

2.1 To authorise a replacement Section 106 agreement to require only: 
(i) the on-site open space land to be offered to the Council;
(ii) a commuted sum payment for the maintenance of the on-site public 

open space. 

Reason for Recommendation

3.1 Based on the information provided it is accepted that the scheme would not be 
financially viable whilst providing financial contributions towards off-site local 
open space and outdoor sports provision.  It is also accepted that the financial 
contribution towards junction improvements is no longer necessary due to a 
decrease in traffic movements since the development was first proposed.  

Page 29

Agenda Item 6b



Application Number: 16/00202/S106    Ward: Spotland and Falinge  Township: Rochdale
     

Proposal: Application to modify the terms of the planning obligations contained within 
the Section 106 Agreement pursuant to planning permission 08/D51596

Site Address: Former Alexander Drew Site, Mellor Street, Rochdale

Applicant: Amanda Oakden                  

Agent: N/A             

RECOMMENDATION: Grant 

Page 30



DELEGATION SCHEME 

The application is before the Planning and Licensing Committee as the proposal seeks to 
modify an existing Section 106 agreement. 

SITE

Planning permission (08/D51596) was granted for the construction of 90 dwellings on the 
site of the former Alexander Drew Site, Mellor Street, Rochdale, which extends to 
approximately 2 hectares. The development is currently under construction by Seddon 
Homes and to date 52 dwellings have been completed.  

Vehicular access into the site is taken from Bridgefold Road which extends from the Mellor 
Street and Spotland Bridge roundabout.  

Towards the centre of the site lies an area of public open space.   This area of open space 
has recently been laid out but is not available for use as it is enclosed by temporary security 
fencing.

The site is located to the north west of Rochdale Town Centre in the Spotland ward. To the 
east of the site lies a large detached warehouse and beyond it lies the River Spodden.  To 
the south lies a modern detached building, occupied by a specialist retail unit and a small 
business park which is accessed from Bridgefold Road. To the north of the site lies Spotland 
Bridge Mill (Grade II Listed) while to the north and east lies the Spotland Bridge 
Conservation Area. 

PROPOSAL

This is an application under Section 106A of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 (as 
amended) and the Town and Country Planning (Modification and Discharge of Planning 
Obligations) Regulations 1992 to modify a planning obligation (Section 106 Agreement) 
dated 13th May 2010 relating to planning application 08/D51596 (Planning permission for 
residential development of 90 dwellings). 

The Section 106 Agreement is the main legal agreement associated with the development 
by Seddon Homes on land to the west of Mellor Street. This Section 106 agreement included 
the following obligations: -

 To make a financial contribution of £41,958 towards informal local open space 
provision in three stages on occupation of the 20, 41 and 61 houses;

 To make a financial contribution of £86,971.50 towards outdoor sports provision in 
three stages on occupation of the 20, 41 and 61 of the houses;

 To layout the on-site local open space before plots 85-87 and 26-29 are occupied, 
and transfer it to the Council;

 To make a contribution of £18,259 for the maintenance of the on-site local open 
space when it has been transferred to the Council; 

 To make a financial contribution of £80,000 towards junction improvements at 
Spotland Bridge, on occupation of the 27th house.

The applicant seeks to amend the S106 agreement so that there is no requirement to make 
the contributions towards off-site local open space, outdoor sports provision or highway 
works.  The applicant still proposes to complete the on-site public open space and transfer 

Page 31



the land to the Council. The applicant would also make the required payment (£18,259) 
towards the future maintenance of the local open space within the site.  

Section 106A of the Town and County Planning Act enables parties to the agreement to 
apply for the obligation:- 
 (a) to have effect subject to such modifications as may be specified in the application; or
 (b) to be discharged.

POLICY CONTEXT

National Guidance

Town and Country Planning Act 1990 (as amended)

Town and Country Planning (Modification and Discharge of Planning Obligations) 
Regulations 1992

The Community Infrastructure Levy Regulations 2010 (as amended) 

National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF)

National Planning Practice Guidance (NPPG)

Adopted Rochdale Core Strategy 

SD1 Delivering Sustainable Development 
G6 Enhancing green infrastructure 
T2 Improving accessibility
DM1 General development requirements 
DM2 Delivering planning contributions and infrastructure
C3 Delivering the right type of housing 
C8 Improving community, sport, leisure and cultural facilities 

Supplementary Planning Guidance

Provision of Recreational Open Space in New Housing SPD

SITE HISTORY 

The application site has been subject to the following relevant applications

 2006/D48443 – Outline application for a mixed use re-development of 88 dwellings 
and 2466sqm of B1 business use floor space together with associated car parking.  
Withdrawn.

 2007/D49660 – Outline application for a mixed use re-development of 102 residential 
units comprising 74 dwellings and 28 apartments, and 2462sqm of B1 commercial 
floorspace together with associated access, landscaping and parking - Resubmission 
D48443.  Approved.

 2008/D51596 – Residential development of 90 dwellings.  Approved 

Page 32



CONSULTATION RESPONSES

Highways and Engineering: Accept the findings of the submitted traffic count study which 
demonstrates that the development will not have a material impact on the operation of the 
two roundabouts which lie at Spotland Bridge. Therefore a financial contribution towards 
junction improvements at Spotland Bridge cannot be justified. 

Councils Quantity Surveyor:  Agrees with the findings of the submitted Viability Statement 
which demonstrates that there is a development deficit and therefore it is not viable to make 
financial contributions towards off-site local open space, outdoor sports provision and the 
highway works at Spotland Bridge. 

PUBLIC CONSULTATION 

The application was advertised by way of direct letters, it has been advertised in the local 
press as well as the display of a site notice.  No letters of representation have been 
received. 

ASSESSMENT

Policy background 

The Town and Country Planning (Modification and Discharge of Planning Obligations) 
Regulations 1992 set out the procedure for making an application to amend planning 
obligations, including standard forms. The principles for modifying an obligation are that it ‘no 
longer serves a useful purpose or would continue to serve a useful purpose in a modified 
way’.  

In considering whether a planning obligation can be justified, the NPPF advises that in all 
cases, the local planning authority must ensure that the obligation meets the relevant tests 
for planning obligations in that they are necessary to make the development acceptable in 
planning terms, directly related to the development, and fairly and reasonably related in 
scale and kind to the development (paragraph 204). Planning obligations should therefore 
not be sought unless they are necessary to make the development acceptable in planning 
terms.

The NPPF also advises that to ensure viability, the costs of any requirement to be applied to 
a development, such as requirements for affordable housing, standards, infrastructure 
contributions or other contributions, should, when taking into account the normal costs of 
development and mitigation, provide competitive returns to a willing land owner and willing 
developer to enable the development to be deliverable (paragraph 173).

Background to the development

Outline planning permission (07/D49660) for a mixed use re-development of the site, 
comprising 102 residential units and 2462 sq.m of B1 commercial floorspace, was granted 
on 7th November 2007.  Planning permission (08/D51596) was subsequently granted on 13th 
May 2010 for a revised residential scheme of 90 dwellings and this scheme is currently 
being implemented by Seddon Homes who to date have built 52 dwellings.

During the application process for application 08/D51596, Seddon Homes entered into a 
Section 106 (S106) agreement with the Council which requires them to provide on-site local 
open space, to make a financial contribution towards the maintenance of it and to provide 
contributions towards off-site local public open space, towards outdoor sports facilities and 

Page 33



towards off-site highway improvements works at Spotland Bridge.  An additional requirement 
of the S106 agreement is that the on-site local public open space is transferred to the 
Council prior to the occupation of plots 85-87 and 26-29.  

The S106 agreement requires Seddon Homes to pay the contributions towards local open 
space, outdoor sports facilities and off-site highway works prior to the first occupation of 
certain plots, for instance the contribution towards the off-site highway works was to be paid 
before the occupation of the 27th house.  None of the financial contributions have been paid, 
and the developer is therefore in breach of the S106.  

The contribution towards off-site highway improvements

The application has been supported by a traffic count survey which was undertaken on 
behalf of the applicant by Croft Transport Solutions. The traffic counts were undertaken 
during the peak hour traffic flows on 31st May 2017 at both roundabouts which lie at 
Spotland Bridge. 

The 2017 surveyed traffic flows have been compared against the 2006 surveyed traffic flows 
which were submitted as part of the Transport Statement to support planning applications 
2006/D48443 & 2007/D49660.   The 2006 surveyed traffic flows took into account the levels 
of traffic that were historically associated with the former industrial use which consisted of 
number of buildings and a car park of approximately 176 spaces. 

When comparing the 2006 and 2017 surveyed traffic flows, peak hour flows have reduced at 
the mini roundabouts which lie at Spotland Bridge. Overall, traffic has decreased by 6% 
during the weekday am peak and 5% during the pm peak at the Bridgefold Road/Mellor 
Street roundabout, and by 6% during the weekday am peak and 7% during the pm peak at 
the Edenfield Road/Rooley Moor Road roundabout.  These reduction in flows are based on 
the current number of occupied houses within the development which is 52.  

The submitted survey has also assessed the impact of the additional traffic that would occur 
when the reaming 38 dwellings to be built are occupied.   This has been achieved  by  using 
the submitted survey levels of traffic that access the 52 occupied dwellings as a proxy for the 
likely levels of traffic that will occur as a result of the 38 units yet to be built.   Overall, it is 
predicted that traffic will decrease by 6% during the weekday am peak and 3.8% during the 
pm peak at the Bridgefold Road/Mellor Street roundabout, and by 5.5%% during the 
weekday am peak and 3.8% during the pm peak at the Edenfield Road/Rooley Moor Road 
roundabout.  

The Council as Local Highway Authority do not dispute the findings of the traffic count 
surveys and accept that the financial contribution towards making improvements to the 
junctions at Spotland Bridge cannot be justified. Therefore re-imposing the highways 
contribution into a revised S106 would not meet the relevant tests, as the contribution 
towards highway improvement works is not necessary to make the development acceptable 
in planning terms.

The contribution towards off site local open space and off site sports provision 

With regard to recreational open space, the approved scheme was required to make a 
contribution towards formal sports provision.  Although the proposal does provide on-site 
local open space, it is not sufficient in size to meet the Councils adopted recreational open 
space standards (as set out within the Provision of Recreational Open Space in New 
Housing SPD) and therefore the scheme was also required to make a contribution towards 
off site local open space.  The level of contribution is calculated on the basis of the number 

Page 34



of bedrooms being created by a development and the resulting demand for recreational 
open space arising from the occupation of the new dwellings.  

In February 2016, Seddon Homes submitted a Viability Statement (VS) which concluded that 
there was a development deficit and therefore it was not viable to make the contributions 
towards off-site local open space or outdoor sports provision.  The VS has been reviewed by 
the Council’s advisors who agree with its findings.    

Taking into account the contents of the VS and the response from the Council’s advisors, the 
applicant does not propose to provide financial contributions towards off-site local open 
space or outdoor sports provision. Whilst this scenario results in a reduction in the financial 
contributions to be made towards off site local open space and outdoor sports provision, it 
must be recognised that: (i) the completion of the remaining 38 dwellings in a sustainable 
location will contribute to the supply of housing in the Borough (ii) the fact that the impact of 
financial contributions on a scheme’s viability is a material planning consideration and 
contributions can be removed and/or varied in cases where satisfactory evidence has been 
provided to demonstrate this.  

In addition, the existing and future residents of the development have access to areas of 
local open space and sports pitches at Denehurst Park to the west of the site and Lenny 
Barn playing fields (Falinge Park High School) to the north-east of the site, which can be 
accessed via Cinnamon Street.   Both lie within walking distance of less than 10 minutes 
from the site and are of sufficient quality and quantity to cater for the existing and future 
residents of the development. On this basis, and given the current viability position in relation 
to the development, it is considered that the harm caused by the lack of contributions 
towards off-site local open space and formal sports provision is outweighed by the benefits 
arising from the completion of the residential development.

RECOMMENDATION

In this instance it is accepted that the scheme would not be financially viable whilst providing 
contributions towards off-site local open space and outdoor sports provision and the 
contribution towards highway improvement works at Spotland Bridge cannot be justified as it 
is not necessary to make the development acceptable in planning terms. 

As per the existing agreement the applicant has agreed to offer the on-site local open space 
to the Council and make a payment of £18,259 towards its future maintenance. It is therefore 
recommended that Committee resolve to authorise the entering into of a replacement 
planning obligation for this site under Section 106 of the Town and Country Planning Act as 
follows: 

(iii) to require the on-site open space land to be offered to the Council;
(iv) a commuted sum payment of £18,259 to be used for the maintenance of the on-site 

public open space. 

Page 35



Planning and Licensing

Date of Meeting 3rd July 2017
Portfolio Planning & Development
Report Author Daniela Ripa
Public/Private Document Public

1. Planning Appeals Lodged

Notification that the following appeals have been lodged:

 16/00914/FUL – 27 Tonge meadow, Middleton, M24 2UR – Change of use of 
land as extension to private garden (Middleton Township)

 16/01384/HOUS – 196 Kensington Street, Rochdale, OL11 1QS - Erection of 
front porch (part retrospective) (Rochdale)

 16/01414/FUL – Suttons Auctioneers Ltd, 52 George Street, Wardleworth, 
Rochdale- Change of use, extension to and subdivision of auctioneers into 8 
Class B2 (general industrial) units including internal alterations (Rochdale 
Township)

 16/01536/HOUS - 84 Kingsway, Rochdale, OL16 4UU - Two storey and single 
storey side extensions and front porch (Rochdale Township)

 16/01107/HOUS - Harwood Fields Farm, Castle Hill Road, Heywood, BL9 
6UL - Single storey side extension (Rochdale Township)

 16/01527/CPE – 12 Forest View, Rochdale, OL12 6HF - Application for a 
certificate of lawfulness for existing decked area (Rochdale Township)

Page 36

Agenda Item 7



2. Planning Appeal Decisions 

Notification of planning appeal decision up to 15th June 2017.

Application reference: 16/01254/HOUS
Appeal reference: APP/P4225/D/17/3167196

Description of development: Installation of decking on roof of side kitchen 
extension including timber balustrade and installation of French doors at first floor 
level (part retrospective)
Site address: 14 Bentgate Close, Milnrow, OL16 4NB

Township: Pennines

Decision level: Delegated

Planning Inspectorate decision: Appeal dismissed 10/04/2017

 Planning permission was refused on the grounds that the first floor decking and 
patio doors, by virtue of their siting and height, would have a significant adverse 
impact on the amenity of the occupiers of No. 12 Bentgate Close, as a result of 
overlooking and a loss of privacy to their rear garden area.

 The Inspector noted that for a person standing on the edge of the deck, there 
would be clear views into substantial parts of the side and rear garden of, and 
towards a side door and window within, 12 Bentgate Close. Whilst the garage 
block would shield part of the grounds of No. 12 from persons sitting on the deck, 
these points would not fully mitigate the effects of the development in this regard.

 The Inspector acknowledged that no objections were received from No. 12, 
however this would not necessarily be the case for all future occupiers. This 
point, with the availability of CCTV cameras referred to by the applicant, does not 
override the loss of privacy within No. 12 that would result from the use of the 
deck. In addition, the Inspector appreciated that the proposal would enable the 
applicant to take advantage of the setting summer sun, however this benefit 
needs to be balanced against the protection of privacy within No. 12.

 The Inspector concluded that the development would cause an unacceptable 
level of overlooking and loss of privacy for the occupiers of No. 12 Bentgate 
Close.

Page 37



Application reference: 16/00691/FUL
Appeal reference:  APP/P4225/W/17/3166867

Description of development: Extension to existing balcony

Site address: Rochdale Rugby Club, Moorgate Avenue, Rochdale, OL11 5LU

Township: Rochdale

Decision level: Township

Planning Inspectorate decision: Appeal dismissed 21/04/2017
This appeal was made against a condition imposed by Rochdale Township Planning 
Sub-Committee which limited the hours of use of the approved balcony extension.  
The details of the condition are as follows:

- The balcony extension herby approved is only permitted to be used between the 
hours of 09:00-18:30.
Reason: In the interest of amenity in accordance with Policies BE/2 and EM/3 of 
the adopted Rochdale Unitary Development Plan, Policy G9 of the Emerging 
Rochdale Core Strategy and the National Planning Policy Framework.

- The main consideration of the inspector was whether the above condition was 
necessary and reasonable to preserve the amenity of nearby residents.  The 
inspector agreed with the council that the condition was required to preserve 
residential amenity as the balcony extension would substantially increase the size 
and usage of the existing balcony area with no barriers to noise between the 
extended balcony and the nearest dwellings.  

- The inspector concluded that the condition is necessary and reasonable in the 
interests of protecting the living conditions of occupiers of nearby dwellings in 
respect of noise.  Its variation to allow use to 11pm which was sought by the 
appellant would lead to a negative impact on the amenity of residents and would 
conflict with Rochdale Core Strategy policies DM1 and G9.  Therefore the appeal 
was dismissed.

Page 38



Application reference: 16/01384/HOUS
Appeal reference:  APP/P4225/D/17/3171562

Description of development: Erection of front porch (part retrospective)

Site address: 196 Kensington Street

Township: Rochdale 

Decision level: Delegated (subject to call up)

Planning Inspectorate decision:  Appeal dismissed 25/04/2017
- The Council refused the part retrospective application for the front porch as the 

proposal, by virtue of its size, scale and massing of the front extension, would 
result in an insubordinate and disproportionate addition to the host dwelling and 
would appear unduly prominent within the street scene to the detriment of the 
character of the area.  

- The Planning Inspector agreed with the Council in terms of the main issue 
above, and found that none of the points raised by the applicant in support of the 
front porch were sufficient to outweigh this conflict. The Inspector stated that the 
development does not constitute sustainable development and concluded that 
the appeal should be dismissed.

Page 39



Application reference: 16/00816/FUL
Appeal reference: APP/P4225/W/16/3161399
Description of development: Change of use of vacant former off-licence (Use 
Class A1) to Hot Food Takeaway (Use Class A5).
Site address: 40 Nowell Road, Middleton, Rochdale, M24 6FL

Township:  Middleton

Decision level: Delegated (subject to call up)

Planning Inspectorate decision:  Appeal dismissed 24/05/2017
- Planning permission was refused by reason of the impact of the proposal on the 

vitality and viability of Nowell Road Local Centre and the impact on the living 
conditions of the residents of neighbouring properties, with specific regard to 
noise.

- Despite taking account of the appeal property being vacant, the number of local 
residents supporting the scheme, the jobs that would be created, and the 
potential for linked shopping trips the Inspector considered that the retail offer of 
the Nowell Road Local Centre would be unacceptably diminished by the 
proposal.  She concluded that the centre would not be able to offer as wide a 
range of goods or services for local residents’ daily shopping needs and that the 
proposal would result in an unacceptable concentration of takeaway uses that 
would be harmful to the vitality and viability of the retail function of the local 
centre.

- In respect of living conditions, the Inspector was satisfied that a planning 
condition could be applied to adequately control the level of noise generated by 
an extract and ventilation system.  However she concluded that this did not 
outweigh the harm to the vitality and viability of the Local Centre and that the 
appeal should be dismissed.  

Page 40



Application reference: 16/01536/HOUS
Appeal reference:  APP/P4225/D/17/3171770
Description of development: Two storey and single storey side extension and 
front porch
Site address: 84 Kingsway, Rochdale, OL16 4UU

Township: Rochdale

Decision level: Delegated

Planning Inspectorate decision: Appeal dismissed 02/06/2017
- The application was refused for two reasons which are summarised as:

1. The proposal would be tantamount to a new dwelling due to the type 
and layout of accommodation proposed. The development would result 
in a cramped layout with insufficient external amenity space and off 
street parking. 

2. The size, scale and design of the development would be excessively 
large and fail to respect the character of the host dwelling or 
surrounding area, resulting in unacceptable harm to visual amenity.

- The Inspector did not uphold the Councils concerns that the development would 
be tantamount to a new dwelling, stating that, ‘for the proposal to be occupied 
separately, then this would require planning permission and any such application 
would be determined on its own rights’.  

- The Inspector therefore determined that the main matter for consideration was 
the effect of the proposed development on the character and appearance of the 
host building and area.

- The Inspector determined that the application would give rise to significant harm 
to the character and appearance of the host building and the area. It would 
conflict with policy DM1 and P3 of the Council’s Core Strategy, which seek, 
amongst other matters, high quality design that takes the opportunity to enhance 
the quality of the area. It would also be contrary to the Guidelines and Standards 
for Residential Development SPD and Chapter 7 of the National Planning Policy 
Framework. 

- On this basis the appeal was dismissed.

Application reference: 16/01414/FUL
Appeal reference: APP/P4225/W/17/3171055
Description of development: Change of use, extension to and subdivision of 
auctioneers into 8 Class B2 (general industrial) units including internal alterations
Site address: Suttons Auctioneers Ltd, 52 George Street, Wardleworth, Rochdale

Page 41



Township: Rochdale

Decision level: Delegated

Planning Inspectorate decision: Appeal allowed 09/06/2017
 The application was refused on the grounds that the introduction of general 

industrial uses to the site would lead to increased activity, noise and 
disturbance. This would cause an unacceptable nuisance to the occupiers of 
residential properties in the immediate vicinity of the site through increased 
levels of noise and disturbance, detrimental to their amenity.

 The Inspector shared the Council’s concerns about the variety of uses that 
could potentially take place if the appeal is allowed, and acknowledged that 
the users of the proposed units are unknown. As a result, there is likely to be 
a noticeable change in noise and disturbance coming from the site, due to the 
sub-division of the building, the hours of use and the potential nature of uses 
themselves.

 Notwithstanding this, the Inspector noted that the relationship and use of the 
site to residential occupants is not new and the building is situated a good 
distance from residential properties. Use of the open areas of the site would 
be used for parking and manoeuvring of vehicles, in the same manner as 
previously, and the key change would be any noise and disturbance from the 
building itself.

 The Inspector found that the local noise environment is noticeably influenced 
by vehicular movements on roads nearby, especially the busy Yorkshire 
Street. The commercial premises and doctor’s surgery also contribute 
modestly. Despite these conditions, the proposed use has the potential to 
result in harm due to noise, possibly significantly adversely impacting upon 
residents’ health and quality of life. 

 However, the Inspector concluded that the use of planning conditions would 
mitigate any noise pollution arising from the proposed use. Given the position 
of adjoining residential properties and their amenity spaces, the Inspector 
considered that an acoustic boundary would lessen any noise break out. A 
noise restriction and a control of working and construction hours would 
confine any noise to within acceptable parameters.  A condition to control 
external lighting would enable a suitable scheme to be designed, so that 
residents would not be subject to adverse light pollution.

 The Inspector considered that the extension would not affect the setting of the 
nearby listed buildings or Town Head Conservation Area, or the character or 
appearance of the site. However, the proposal would be a more intensive use, 
and has the potential to audibly detract from the setting of the nearby listed 
buildings and conservation area.  The Inspector found that the harm to the 
designated heritage assets would be less than substantial, and public benefit 
would outweigh this harm by bringing the site back into a viable use and 
providing for a range of start-up businesses in a sustainable location.

Page 42


	Agenda
	2 Minutes
	Minutes of Previous Meeting

	6a 16/01342/FUL - Hanson Point, Hanson Close Industrial Estate, Middleton
	6b 16/00202/S106 - Former Alexander Drew Site, Mellor Street, Rochdale
	7 Planning Appeals

